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18 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEVADA

19
Federal Trade Com m ission,20

Case N o.:
Plaintiff,21

Filed Under Seal)
22 Ideal Financial Solutiens

, Inc., a Com plaint for
corporation; (1) Unfair Billing Practices;23

(2) beeeptive Billing Practices;
C limited liability aRd24 Ascot Crossing

, LL , a (3) Deceptive Statements that
com pany; c Authorized Paym ent@nsuDlerg

25
Bracknell Shore, Ltdo a lim ited liability26
Company;

27
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Chandon Group, Inc., a corporation;
1

Avanix, LLC, a lim ited liability company;2

3 Fiscal Fitness, LLC, a lim ited liability
company;

4
Steven Sunyich, individually and ms an

5 ffcer and director of the corporateo

defendants;6

7 M ichael Sunyich, individually and ms an
officer and director of the corporate

8 defendants;

9 Christopher Sunyich, individually and as
1() alz officer arld director of the corporate '

defendants;
l 1

Shawn sunyich, individually and as an
12 ofticer and director of the com orate

defendants;1 3

14 M elissa Sunyich Gardner, individually and
as an officer and director of the corporate

15 defendants; mld

16 Kent Brown
, individually and as an ofticer

and director of the corporate defendants.17

Defendants.18

19 COMPLM NT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF

20 Plaintiff the Federal Trade Commission (çTTC'') for its Complaint alleges:

2 1 l 
. 'rhe FTC brings this action under Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Cemmission

22
Act (K<FTC Act''), 15 U.S.C. j 53(b), to obtain temporaly preliminary, arld pennanent injtmctive

23
relief rescission or reformation of contacts, restitution, refund of monies paid, disgorgement of

24

ill-gotten monies, the appointm ent of a receiver, and other equitable relief for Defendants' acts25

:6 or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. j 45(a).

27

1
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE
l

2. This Court has subject matterjurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. jj 1331, 1337(a),2

3 and 1345, arld 15 U.S.C. jj 45(a) and 53(b).

4 3. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. j1391(b) and (c), and 15 U.S.C. j

5 5g(b)
.

6
CASE SYNOPSIS

7
4. U sing a network of front companies, Defendants take money from  consum ers

8
without prior notice or consent, making more than $ 24,000,000 in tmauthorized debits and9

charges without providing any product or service in exchange for that money. Defendantsl 0

1 1 subsequently tell com plaining consumers that they purchmsed Defendants' phantom products at a

12 website that Defendants will not identify.

13 PLAINTIFF

14
5. The FTC is an independent agency of the United States Govem m ent created by

15
statute. 15 U.S.C. 51 41-58. The FTC enforces Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 5 45(a),16

which prohibits tmfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting comm erce.17

lg 6. 'f'hc FTC is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by its own

l 9 attomeys, to enjoin violations of the FTC Act and to sectlre such equitable relief as may be

20 a ropriate in each case
, including rescission or refonnation of contracts, restimtion, the refundPP

2 1
of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies. 15 U.S.C. 55 531) and 56(a)(2)(A).

22
DEFENDANTS

23
7. Defendant Steven Sunyich is the Chief Executive Officer of Defendant Ideal

24

Financial Solutions, Inc. At all tim es material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with25

26 others, he form ulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in the acts

27

2
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and practices set forth in this Complaint. Steven Stmyich knew of Defendants' unauthorized
1

billing of consum er accounts and deceptive statem ents to consumers, was recklessly indifferent2

3 to these acts, or was aware of a high probability of tlle fraud and intentionally avoided the truth.

4 In cozmection w1t.11 the matters alleged herein, he transacts or has transacted business in this

5 district and throughout the United States
.

6
8. Defendant M ichael Stmyich is President of Defendant Bracknell Shores, Ltd. and

7
Vice-president of Defendant Ideal Financial Solutions, Inc. At a11 times material to this

8
Complaints acting alone or in concert with others, he fonnulated, directed, controlled, had the9

authority to control, or participated in the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. M ichael1 0

1 1 Stmyich knew of Defendants' unauthorized billing of consumer accounts and deceptive

12 statements to consluners
, was recklessly indifferent to these acts, or was aware of a high

13
probability of the lkaud and intentionally avoided the truth. In cormection with the matters

14
alleged herein, he transacts or has transacted business in this district arld throughout the United

15
States.

16

9. Defendant Christopher (çtChris'') Sunyich is President of Defendant Ideal17

lg Finmzcial Solutions, lnc. At al1 times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with

19 others, he formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in the acts

20 and practices set forth in this Complaint
. Chris Sunyich knew of Defendants' unauthorized

2 1 billi
ng of consum er accounts and decepEve statem ents to consum ers, was recklessly indifferent

22
to these acts, or was aware of a high probability of the fraud and intentionally avoided the truth.

23
ln connection with the m atters alleged herein, he transacts or has transacted business in this

24

district and throughout the United Sutes.25

26

27

3
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2

3

4

6

8

12

13

14

17

10. Defendant Shawn Stmyich was Director of Business Development for Defendant

Ideal Finmwial Solutions, lnc. until M arcll 2012 and Presidtnt of Defendant Chandon Group,

lnc. in 2û11 . At times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with otliers, he

formulated, directed, controlled, bad the authori'ty to control, or participated in lhe acts and

practices set fortlï in tllis Complaint. Shawn Sunyich knew of Defendants' unauthotized billing

of consumer accotmts and deceptive sutem ents to consum ers, was recklessly indifferent to these

acts, or was aware of a high probability of the fraud and intentionally avoided the truth. In

colmection w1t11 the matters alleged herein, he transacts or has transacted business in this district

and throughout the United States.

Defendant M elissa Sunyich Gardner is the Owner of Defendant Ascot Crossing,

LLC. At all times material to tllis Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, she

fommlated, directed, conkolled, lmd the authorhy to control, or participated in the ads and

practices set forth in this Complaint. M elissa Stmyich Gardner knew of Defendants'

unauthorized billing of consum er accounts and deceptive statem ents to consumers, was

recklessly indifferent to these acts, or wms aware of a high probability of the iiaud and

intentionally avoided the trktttu ln colmection with the matters alleged herein, she transacts or

has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States.

12. Defendant Kent Brown is Chief Operating Ofticer and Controller of Defendant

ldeal Financial Solutions, Inc.., Defendant Bracknell Shore, Ltd., and D efendant Ascot Crossing,

LLC. At a11 tim es material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, he

formulaled, directed, controlled, had tbe autborhy to control, or participated in the acts and

practices set forth in this Complaint. Kent Brown knew of Deftndants' unauthoriztd billing of

consmner accotmts and deceptive statements to consum ers, was recklessly indifferent to these

4
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acts, or was aware of a high probability of the fraud and intentionally avoided the truth. In
1

connection 5v1111 the m atters alleged herein, he transacts or has kansaded business in this district2

3 and throughout tlze United States.

4 13. Defendarlt Ideal Financial Solutions, Inc. (EtIdeal'') is a publicly traded Nevada

5 tion that asserts to the Securities and Exchange Commission that its place of business iscorpora

6
at 5940 S. Rainbow Blvd., Suite 3010, Las Vegas, N V 891 18. Ideal transacts or has transacted

7
business in this district and throughout the United States.

8

14. Defendant Ascot Crossing, LLC (tçAscot Crossinf') is a Nevada limited liability9

company that has previously asserted in an application to a payment processor that its physical10

1 1 place of business as 8670 W . Cheyerme Ave., Las Vegas, NV 89129. Ascot Crossing transacts

12 or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States
.

13 u k
n 11 shoren) is a Nevada limited liability15. Defendant Bracknell Shore, Ltd. ( Brac e

14
company that ysserts on State of Nevada corporate records that its registered agent for selvice of

l 5
process is located at 5940 S. Rainbow Blvd., Ste. 3010, Lms Vegas, NV 891 18-2540. Bracknell

16

Shore transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States.17

18 16. Defendant Charldon Oroup, Inc. (t<charldon Group'') is a Nevada corporation that

19 identities on dom ain nam e records that its place of business is at 8670 W . Cheyenne Ave., Las

20 vegas
, NV 89129 and that identities on tktitiotls business name and bank records that its place

2 l
of business is 2831 St. Rose Parkway, Suite 200, Henderson, NV 89052. Chandon Group

22
transacts or has trmuacted business in this district and throughout the United Sutes.

23

17. Defendant Avanix LLC (GlA.vanix'') is a Nevada colporation that lists on its24

colporate letterhead that it is located at 219 Redfield Parkway, //204, Reno, 'NV 89509. Avanix25

26 transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States.

27

5
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18. Defendarlt Fiscal Fitness, LLC (çtFiscal Fitness'') is a Nevada limited liability1

company that asserts on State of Nevada corporate records that it has places of btlsiness at 14892

:3 W . W arm  Springs, Rd, Suite 1 10, Henderson, NV 89014 and 7327 Ristoro St., Las Vegas, NV

4 89148. Fiscal Fitness transacts or has transacted business in this district mld throughout the

5 United States
.

6
19. Defendants have operated as a common enterprise wltile engaging in the

7
deceptive and unfair acts and practices alleged below. Defendants have commingled funds and

8
conduded the business practices described below through an interrelated network of companies9

that have cornm on ownership, officers, marmgers, business functions, employees, oftice10

1 1 locations, phone numbers, websites, and centralized payroll functions. See inh.a paras. 51-59.

12 Because these Defendants have operated as a common enterprise
, each of them isjointly and

13
severally liable for the acts arld practices alleged below.

14
20. Defendants Steven Sunyich, M elissa Sunyich Gardner, Chris Sunyich, M ichael

15
Stmyich, Shawn Sunyich, and Kent Brown formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to

16

control, or pmticipated in the acts and practices of the defendants that constitute the common17

enterprise. '1 8

19 2 1. Defendants regularly use dozens of other cop orations as shells that do nothing

20 m ore than open m ercham  accounts with payment processors
, submit consum er account

2 1 i
nform ation to them for billing, and fllnnel the proceeds to Defendants. On information and

22
belief, in addition to the named defendants, these other participants in the common enterprise

23
include, but are not limited to, Debt Elim ination System s, LLC; US Debt Relief, LLC; M oney

24

Mastery, LLC; US Debt Assistance Corp.; lWB Services (St. Kittsl; Financial Fitness, LLC;25

26 Debt to W ealth, LLC (St. Kittsl; Debt to W ealth, LLC (Nevada); ldeal Goodness, LLC; Dollars

27

6
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W est, LLC; Fluidity, LLC; Newport Sails, LLC; Shaw Shank, LLC; Btmker Hillside, LLC;

Funding Guarantee, LLC; Newline Cash, LLC; W ea1th Fitness, LLC; and Zeal Funding, LLC.

COM M ERCE

22. At alltimes mateHalto this Complaint, Defendants have maintained a substantial

colzrse of trade in or affecting commerce, as ûûcommerce'' is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act,

15 U.S.C. ï 44.

DEFENDANTS' BUSINESS PM CTICES

Defendants Debit and Charee Consum ers witbout Authorization

23. Since at least Jantlal'y 2009, Defendants have taken money from consum ers' bank

accounts or billed consumers' credit cards, without consumers' knowledge or consent or plior

adequate notice.

24.

campaigns. For each campaign, Defendants, directly or tllrough other shell com panies, establish

m erchant accotmts w1t11 third party pam ent processors. Defendants use these merchant

Defendants organize their scheme into a series of debiting and billing

accotmts to debit consumers' bank accotmts and charge their credit cards. W hen the debit or

charge (usually around $30) appears on a comsumers' bank or credit card statement, a phone

number accompanies it, along w1t11 a short billing descriptor like DEBH W EALTI'L FUND

ASSUR, or AVANIX.

25. Prior to the unauthorized debit or credit card charge, consumers have never com e

inte conuct with Defendants; therefore, consumers have not authorized Defendants to take their

money or charge their credit cards.

26. Becatkse Defendants do not have consumer authorizxation when they debit the

bank account or charge the credit card, the transactions are often returned upon consumer

7
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2

4

5

6

7

8

11

12

13

14

17

18

19

20

22

23

24

25

26

!

request. n e rate of these returns is well above the industry average and retlects the lack of

authoriz-ation f'rom consumers.

27. Defendants falsely tell consumers who call their phone numbers (as listed on

consumers' bank statements and credit cards sotements) that the consumers authorized the debit

or charge.

28. Defendants make use of dozens of shell compnnies to evade detection.

29. Over the last four years, Defendants have debited or charged more tha11 $24

million from consum ers without authoriz-ation.

30. For example, in numerous campaigns, Defendants have made hundreds of

thom ands of debits on consumer accounts without authorizmion, including but not limited to

these three campaigns:

A. DebtzW ealth Camnaien: In 2010, Defendants debited consumer bank

accounts, using the billing descriptor ttDebtzW ealth'' mzd similar nam es. ln the campaign,

Defendants' debited approximately $30 to $40 from thousands of consumer accotmts without the

corlsum ers' authorizxation. W hen consumers called the phone number listed next to the billing

descriptor, Defendants falsely told those consumers that they had purchased financial cotmseling

services.

B. Fundinz Assurance Cam paien: In 201 1, Defendants debited consumer

bank accotmts with the billing descriptor ûçFunding Assurance'' and similar nam es. In the

campaign, Defendants' debited approximately $30 from thousands of consumer accounts without

authorization. W hen consum ers called the phone number listed next to the billing descriptor,

Defendants falsely told those consum ers that they had pttrchased payday loan matching services

from Defendants.

8
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C. Avanix Campaien: ln 2012, Defendants debited consumer bank accounts
1

with the billing descriptor EtAvanix Lending'' and sim ilar names. ln the campaign, Defendants'2

3 debited approximately $31.96 f'rom thousmlds of consumer accotmts without the consumers'

4 authoriwation. W hen consumers called the phone number listed next to the billing descriptor,

5 Defendu ts falsely told those consumms that they had purchased assistance in completing a

6
payday loan application.

7
D . Defendants have latmched m any additional campaigns with a panoply of

8
billing descriptors or phony products, such Payment Assistance, Payment Protection l 01, Payday

9

Loan Protection, ILender Assistance, Ilaender N etwork, SS Lene ast, Debt Elim ination Systems,10

1 1 IBuild W ealthy IW B Club, and Cash Club.

12 3 1. Defendants' source (çtlead provider'') for consumers' tinancial intbnnation is

13 ' vi tim s recently had applied for payday loans throughtmknown. However, many of Defendants c

14
the Internet. Consumers apply for payday loans directly (via lenders' websites) or indirectly (via

15
third-party broker websites, which purport to cormect applicants w1t.11 lenders). To apply for a

16

payday loan, corlsum ers provide personal information, including bank account numbers, so that17

lg the loan, if approved, can be deposited into their account. Entities that receive payday loan

19 applications (whether directly or indirectly) frequently sell the information (including tinancial

20 information) to additional parties.

21 ,32
. By targeting financially vulnerable consumers, Defendants debits regularly cause

22
consum ers to incur bank penalty fees or overdraû charges due to insufficient funds.

23
Defendants' Hieh Return Rates Indicate a Lack of Consum er Authorization

24

33. Defendants access the banking system and credit card networks via third-party25

26 payment processors. Defendants submit consumer account information to the payment

27

9
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2

processors, which initiate debits from the consumers' accounts or bill consumers' credit card

accotmts. The payment processors send the proceeds of the debits and charges to Defendants,

after deducting tlzeir fees.

34. For debits, payment processors rely on either remotely created checks (<'RCCs'')

or direct electronic withdrawals. Direct eleckonic withdrawals are processed through the ACH

network, a nationwide inter-bank electronic network monitored by NACHA - n e Electronic

Pam ents Association (ICNACHA'') a plivate regulatory trade association. RCCS are payment

4

5

6

8

mechanisms that are (like a traditional paper check) drawn against a consumer's checking

account; there is no entity like NACHA that monitors RCCS.10

11

12

13

M arly of Defendants' debits and charges are never noticed by the targeted

consumers and therefore are never challenged. Those consumers who do notice often complain

to their tinancial institution, credit card issuer, or Defendants. Consumer complaints to

Defendants are described in Paragraphs 43 - 50.

36. W hen consum ers complain about unauthorized charges and debits to their

tinancial instimtion or credit card issuers, those entities often process a reversal to reftmd the

consumer. (In the debit context, the terminology is tçrettmf'', in the credit card context, the

terminology is Etchargeback''). Financial institutions and credit card issuers can process reversals

for any num ber of reasons, including insuflicient funds, a closed account, a non-existent account,

or notice by the consum er tlzat the transaction was unauthorized.

16

17

18

19

20

22

23

24

25

26

High reversal l'ates (relative to industry average) are indicia that the merchant is

engaged in illegal tmauthorized billing/debiting schemes. To guard against this, NACHA and

tinancial institutions monitor the Total Retum  Rate and Unauthorized Return Rate for debits.

10
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F0r debits in 201 1, the Avemge Total Return Rate fer the ACH nehvork was 1.52 % and the

Average Unauthorized Rettun Rate was 0.03 % .

38. In num erous instances, Defendants' campaigns far exceeded the Average Total

Return Rate and the Average Unautholized Retum Rate for debits, as reflected in tlle following

two examples:5

6 A
. DebtzW ealtà Campaien: For traasactions processed be> een August

2010 and M arch 201 1 by one paym ent processor, Defendants' Total Remrn Rate was m ore th%

54 %  -  more than 35 times the Average Total Return Rate.

B. Fundine Assurance Cam oaign: For transactions processed behveen

8

10

11

12

13

14

August 2011 and September 201 1 by one payment processor, Defendants' Unauthorized Return

Rate was approxim ately 2.7 % -  approxim ately 90 tim es the Average Unauthorized Rettml

Itate.

39. As a result of Defendants' high return rates, at least some payment processors

16

17

18

tenninated Defendants' merchant accounts. For example, in 20l 1, Fifth 'Ihird Bank conducted a

separate fraud investigation into Defendants' merchant accotmts and, as a result, yet another

payment processor terminated anotlzer merchant accotmt.

40. Likewise, credit card networks and banks monitor chargeback rates for credit card

charges. High chargeback rates, and esmcially those that exceed one percent (1 %), are indicia

of unauthorized/illegal billing. In 2009 and 2010, Defendants charged credit cards with

chargeback rates that reached 12.3 % . Because of high chargeback rates, Visa conducted an

20

22

23

24
investigation of Defendants' m erchant accotmts in 20l 0, and Defendant ldeal's paym ent

processor term inated at least one merchant account as a result.

41. Defendants cmm ot bill or debit consumers without m erchant accotmts. However,26
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Defendarlts will lose these merchant accotmts if they have high return rates. In order to prevent
1

this from happening, Defendants manipulate their return rates by taking multiple unauthorized2

g debits from consumer bank accounts of $0.01, $0.03, and $0.04. They immediately refund them

4 prior to Defendants' much larger unauthorized debit of approximately $30. By doing so,

5 Defendarlts intlate the number of total debits and thereby reduce their Total Return Rate and

6 T
otal Unauiorized Rettum Rate; thus, Defendants can forestall fraud investigations and

7
merchant accotmt termination.

8

42. For example, if Defendants debit ten consumer accounts for $31.96 each, and tive9

consumers challenge the debits wit.h their bank (which çtreturns'' the debits), Defendants have a10

1 l return rate of 50% . However, Defendants can reduce that rate by taking two additional permy

12 debits from the accotmt and autom atically refunding those debits ms a direct deposit
, not as a

13 E '' In such case, Defendants would make tllree debits for each accotmt (two separateereturn.
14

pezmy debits and a $3l .96 debit), resulting in 30 individual debits. If five of the $3 1.96 debits
15

were returned, the return rate would be only 16.7 %.
16

M isrepresentations to Com plainine Consum ers throueh Call Center Azents17

lg 43. Defendants also lower their rettzrn rates by falsely telling constlm ers that they

19 authorized the debits or charges and should not challenge them with their bank.

20 44 Specitically
, Defendants place toll-free phone numbers alongside billing

2 1 , .d
escriptols on victim s bank arld credit card statements.

22 ' 

45. Defendants received tens of thousands of calls to these phone num bers from
23

consum ers complaining about the unauthorized charges atzd debits.
24 .

46. To handle this volmne of consumer complaints, Defendants esGblished a call25

26 center in St. George, Utah. They also retained a tirm which provided additional capacity at call

27

12
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i
i
i
i
!centers in the United States

, the Philippines, and El Salvador. !
1 i

47. At these call centers, agents answer phone calls with the name of the billing l2 
:

i
3 descriptor matching the phone number called (as listed on the victims' credit card or bank !

I
i4 

accotmt statement). n e agents misrepresent to consumers that they auiorized the debits and 1
I

5 icharges while applying for an online payday loan. These agents falsely assert that the payment

6
was for a particular product, usually related to tinancial m anagem ent, financial cotmseling, or a

7
payday loan application.

8
48. W hen complaining consum ers ask the call center agents how Defendants obtained

9

their accotmt inform ation, the call ccnter agents are unwilling or unable to tell them . On10

1 1 occmsiona the call center agent wi11 tell a conslzmer that M s or her inform ation may have been

12 obtained from a website (which the agent does not identify). Sometimes, the call center agents

13 ' Ip (Intemet Protocol) address
, which theytell consumers that Defendants know their computer s

14
falsely claim establishes authorization for the debits or charges.

1 5
49. In one instance, a call center agent told the complaining consum er that: tçI would

16

like to make it clear that we do not have a copy of yottr application gfor a payday loan or olerl 7

lg services), but the IP addresses and information that was submitted, in yotlr name, as art

19 application.'' Another consum er reports that Defendants' agent told him that <çshe had no

20 infonnation other than the IP address to give m e as evidence that l had authorized a debit from

2 1 ,,
m y checking account.

22
50. M any complaining consum ers are unconvinced by Defendants'

23
misrepresentations arld demand refunds. Defendants often pronzise a refund to consumers who

24

persistently demand one.25

26 .

27

13
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An Interrelated M aze of Shell Com panies Shields Defendants

In addition to lying to consumers about their fraud, Defendants use a labyrinth of

shell compnnies, m erchmzt accotmts, m ail drops, and websites to evade detection.

52. Defendants have incom orated dozens of companies that open merchant accotmts

for their campaigns. In addition, Defendants have om rated under dozcns of tictitious business

names to hide their identity from the victims of their campaigns.

53. Defendmzts have opened multiple m erchant accotmts with paym ent processors.
8

Defendants bave used ove'r 50 billing descriptors for their campaigns.

Defendants have ttsed multiple mail drops and numerous addresses for their

cam paigns.

56. Defendants have registered over 230 domain names (oRen using identity-hiding

services and auto-fonvard features), including deb/wealthclub.com, fundingmsslzrance.com, and

avanixlending.com .

Corporate defendants share offcers. Kent Brown is an officer of Ideal Financial,

;Braclcnell Shore
, and Ascot Crossing. M ichael Sunyich is alz officer of Ideal Fmancial and

Bracknell Shore. Shawn Sunyich is an officer of Ideal Financial and served as president of

Chandon Group. Steven Sunyich, Christopher Stmyich, and Kent Brown have check writing

privileges for bank accounts held by Ideal Financial, Ascot Crossing, and Chandon Group.

58. Corporate defendants share employees. For example, the sam e Ideal Financial

employee responds to BBB com plaints, whether lodged against Fiscal Fitness or Avanix.

Likewise, Ascot Crossing, Bracknell Shore, Chandon Group, arld Fiscal Fim ess use deceptive

email addresses that auto-fom ard to Ideal Financial employees. Similarly, corporate defendants'

call center agents answer the phone as a representative of whatever campaign the victim called
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about, rather tIAM  identifying the company or companies responsible for that campaign. Finally,
1

while Ideal Financial hires certain employees, Bracknell Shore issues their paychecks.2

3 59. Defendmzts also cornrningle assets mzd funnel m onies paid to them by payment

4 processors to multiple corporate and personal accounts.

5 vlotx lqoxs oF TITR FTc AcT

6 60
. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 5 45(a), prohibits ttunfair or deceptive acts

7
or practices in or affecting com merce.''

8
61. M isrepresentations or deceptive om issions of material fact constim te deceptive

9

acts or practices prohibited by Section 5(a) of the FTC Act. Acts or practices are tmfair tmder10

1 1 Section 5 of the FTC Act if they cause substantial injury to consumers that consumers carmot

12 reasonably avoid themselves and that is not outweighed by countervailing benetits to consumers

13
or competition. 15 U.S.C. 1 45(n).

14
COUNT I - Unfair Billine Praetices

1 5
62. As described in Paragraphs 4 - 59, in numerous instances, Defendants obtain

16

consumers' bank accotmt arld credit card accotmt infonnation and have caused billing17

l g information to be subm itted for payment on those accounts without constlm ers' express informed

l 9 consent.

20 63 Defendants' actions cause or are likely to cause substamial injury to consumers

2 1
that consum ers cmmot reasonably avoid them selves and that is not outweighed by countervailing

22
benefits to consumers or competition.

23
64. n erefore, Defendants' practices as described in Paragraph 62 of this Complaint

24

constitute tmfair acts or practices in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 5: 45(a)25

26 and 45(n).

27

l 5
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COIJNT 11 - Deceptive Billine Practices
1

65. As described in paragraphs 4 - 59, in numerous instances, Defendants represent,2

3 directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that consumers have authorized Defendants'

4 charges on consumers' credit cards.

5 66 As described in paragraphs 4 - 59, in truth and in fact, in num erous of these

6 i
nstmzces, consumers have not authorized Defendants' charges on their credit cards.

7
67. n erefore, Defendants' representations set forth in Paragraph 65 of this

8
Complaint are false or m isleading and constim te deceptive acts or practices in violation of

9

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 5 45(a).10

11 CO UNT III - Deceptive Statem ents That Consum ers Authorized Pavm ent

12 68 As desclibed in paragraphs 4 - 59, in num erous instances, when consumers

13
contact Defendants to seek reftmds, Defendants represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or by

14
implication, that consumers are not entitled to a reftmd because they agreed:

1 5
a. to purchase Defendants' products or services, arld

16

b. to authorize Defendants to debit m oney from  consumers' bank accotmts to17

18 pay for Defendants' products or selwice.

19 69. As described in paragmphs 4 - 59, in truth and in fact, in numerous instances in

20 hi h Detkndants make these representations
, consum ers did not agree:w c

2 1
a. to purchase Defendants' products or services, and

22
b. to authorize Defendants to debit m oney from consum ers' bank accounts to

23
pay for Defendants' products or services.24

70. Therefore, Defendants' representations set forth in Paragraph 68 of this25

26 Complaint are false or misleading and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of

27

1 6
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Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 5 45(a).

CO NSUM ER INJURY

71. Consumers have suffered arld will continue to suffer substantial injury as a result

of Defendants' violations of the FTC Act. ln addition, Defendants have been unjustly enriched

ms a result of their tmlawful acts or mactices. Absent injlmctive relief by this Court, Defendants

are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap tmjust enrichment, and harm the public interest.

TI'IIS COURT'S POW ER TO GR ANT RELIEF
8

72. Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, l 5 U.S.C. 5 53(b), empowers this Court to grant

10

11

12

13

injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt and redress violations

of any provision of law enforced by the FTC. The Court, in the exercise of its equitable

jurisdiction, may award ancillary relief, including rescission or refonnation of contracts,

restimtion, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, to prevent and

rem edy any violation of any provision of 1aw enforced by the FTC.

PM YER FOR RELIEF
16

17 Wherefore, the Federal Trade Cornmission, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15

U.S.C. ï 53(b), and the Court's own equitable powers, requests that the Court:

Award Plaintiff such preliminmy injtmctive and ancillary relief as may be

necessary to avert the likelihood of consumer injury during the pendency of this action and to

preserve the possibility of effective iinal relief, including but not limited to, temporm'y and

preliminary injunctions, arl order freezing assets, immediate access, and the appointment of a

receiver;

B. Enter a permanent injtmction to prevent futttre violations of the FTC Act by

Defendants;

17
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Award such relief as the Court tinds necessary to redress injury to consumers

resulthlg from Defendants' violations of the FTC Act, including but not limited to, rescission or

reform ation of contracts, restimtion, the reftmd of m onies paid, and the disgorgem ent of

ill-gotten monies; and

D. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.

4

5

6

10

11

12

13

Dated:

Respectfully submitted,
DAVID SHONKA
Acting General Counsel

. 
'' ' ''

'

<  - A

XR. CHAEL ALLER
M EGAN E. GM Y
Attonwys for Plaintiff
FEDERAL TRADE COM M ISSION
Bureau of Consum er Protection
Division of Enforcement

16

17

18
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